RECEIVED

Aug 29 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

On Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Greenville County
Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2022-000806

THE STATE,

Petitioner,

vs.

PHILLIP WAYNE LOWERY,

Respondent.

BRIEF OF PETITIONER

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

AMBREE M. MULLER
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3747

W. WALTER WILKINS, III
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North St.
Greenville, SC 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON CERTIORARI

- I. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting statements made by Lowery on the dash cam video.**
- II. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the State failed to comply with the DUI statute.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

A Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Respondent, Phillip Wayne Lowery (Lowery) for driving under the influence. On December 12-13, 2018, a jury trial was held in the Greenville County Court of General Sessions with the Honorable Robin B. Stilwell presiding. Lowery was represented by J. Max Gravlee, Esquire. Petitioner (the State) was represented by Assistant Solicitor Brann Fowler of the Thirteenth Circuit Solicitor's Office. The jury found Lowery guilty as charged and the trial judge sentenced him to two years' incarceration.

On appeal, Lowery claimed the trial court erred in admitting Lowery's statement where he was the subject of custodial interrogation and his statements were not made freely and voluntarily where law enforcement would not let him use the restroom and admitted he was not free to leave. Lowery also claimed that the trial court erred in failing to dismiss his charge where the dash cam video failed to comply with the driving under the influence statute and did not include all of the field sobriety tests administered or any of the officers reading Lowery his Miranda rights.

The Court of Appeals issued a published opinion reversing and remanding Lowery's conviction for driving under the influence finding the trial court abused its discretion in admitting statements Lowery made on a dash camera recording and the State failed to comply with the DUI statute regarding a second dash camera recording. (App. 159, 171); State v. Lowery, 436 S.C. 349, 872 S.E.2d 197 (Ct. App. 2022). Thereafter, the State filed a timely petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeals and the petition was denied. (App. 238) The State then filed a petition for a writ of certiorari in the Supreme Court, and that petition was granted on August 10, 2023.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Prior to trial, a Jackson v. Denno¹ hearing was held for the State's two testifying witnesses, Troopers David Vallin and Brandon McNeely each with the South Carolina Department of Public Safety. Trooper Vallin testified that on the night of Lowery's arrest, Vallin had responded to a call about a car accident.² A short distance from the accident, officers located a vehicle with front-end damage at a Spinx gas station. Trooper Vallin arrived at the location after a few other officers. There, they found Lowery outside of the vehicle in question. Trooper Vallin turned on his dashboard camera, approached Lowery, and asked him what happened. At that point, Trooper Vallin's sole objective was to determine whether Lowery and/or the vehicle were involved in the accident and who was at fault in said accident and even stated such. (App. 12). As Trooper Vallin began speaking with him, Lowery quickly made several incriminating statements. He claimed "Well I pulled in here so someone could help me change my tire. I did not know I hit nobody." (State's Exhibit 1). This statement was made 26 seconds into the conversation between Trooper Vallin and Lowery. Lowery was not in handcuffs at the time and only Trooper Vallin was asking him questions.

Trial counsel objected to the admission, pursuant to Jackson v. Denno, arguing that Lowery's statements were made during a custodial interrogation and, because Lowery was not given Miranda warnings, they were inadmissible. Trial counsel further argued that because Lowery was formally placed under arrest later, it was "clear" he was under arrest at that time. Trial counsel also claimed that Vallin's testimony on cross examination that Lowery was not free

¹ Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

² The original incident was a hit-and-run. Lowery's involvement in that incident was not the subject of his trial; therefore, the trial judge limited reference to that incident as an accident. (App. 11-12).

to leave the scene, further supported his position. The State disagreed, and pointed to State v. Morgan, where this court found Miranda warnings were not required when officers questioned persons during a “routine investigation” of a traffic accident. State v. Morgan, 282 S.C. 409, 319 S.E.2d 335 (1984). The State noted Vallin asked basic questions of Lowery in an effort to ascertain who or what caused the initial traffic accident, during which Lowery volunteered his inculpatory statements. (App. 21-25).

The trial judge ultimately concluded that Vallin’s recording, and Lowery’s statements within, were generally admissible. Based on his review of the testimony and the recording, the trial judge found Lowery was not in custody at the time he was questioned and volunteered his incriminating statements. The trial judge further found that Vallin’s questions were “fairly innocuous” and focused on the traffic accident, pursuant to a routine investigation. Thus Vallin’s actions fell within those “contemplated in the [Morgan] case.” (App. 25-26).

However, after hearing trial counsel’s concerns regarding the characterization of the car accident within the first dash cam recording, the trial judge instructed the parties to redact the portions of the recordings which unnecessarily discussed the earlier alleged hit and run. (App. 50-52). The trial judge made it clear that he wanted the parties to discuss any and all issues with the video recordings and other evidence in the case, including the separate recording of Lowery’s sobriety tests, and send an email before the trial began in earnest the following day. (App. 26-35, 50-53). The following day, the trial began. Neither party had any objections when the State began presenting its evidence. (App. 54).

Trooper McNeely performed the sobriety tests, which were recorded on his dashcam. (State’s Exhibit 2). During the first procedure, the horizontal nystagmus test, Lowery was unable to focus his eyes on McNeely’s finger and follow it through a range of motions. When Lowery

participated in the second exercise, the walk and turn test, he struggled to walk in a line and to follow McNeely's oral commands. The third and final test, the one legged stand, required Lowery to stand on the leg of his choosing and maintain balance for thirty seconds while verbally counting the time. Again, like with the first two tests, Lowery struggled greatly in attempting the task. The results of these three tests, combined with Lowery's drunken demeanor, alcoholic odor, and urination on himself became the basis upon which McNeely arrested him. Through McNeely's testimony, the State admitted the dashboard camera recording of the tests he performed on Lowery along with the conversation between the two men. (State's Exhibit 2). When the trial court, sua sponte, asked trial counsel whether he had any objections to this recording, trial counsel had no objection provided the agreed redactions were performed on it. (App. 98).

The video was admitted and was played so that McNeely could explain each test that Lowery was performing. The first test and some of the second test were shown during trial, but the video then malfunctioned and the remainder of the video was not able to play. The State requested an off the record conference. (App. 71-74). When the parties returned, the trial judge announced the State was having technical difficulties with playing the remainder of the video. However, McNeely confirmed that the video did record and showed him providing Lowery with his Miranda warnings. Trial counsel did not lodge any objection to playing the recording despite the State's inability to display the portion showing the Miranda warnings that had been recorded. (App. 77).

After the State rested its case, trial counsel moved for a directed verdict of not guilty claiming the State failed to provide evidence, other than Lowery's own self-incriminating statements about driving the car, that the car had been driven by Lowery that night; none of the

officers saw Lowery driving the car and no one checked to see whether “the car was warm.” (App. 86-88). The State responded that Lowery himself admitted to driving the vehicle, which was more than enough evidence to support a denial of the motion. The trial judge agreed with the State and denied the motion. (App. 91). Again, no objection relating to the admission of McNeely’s recording was made by trial counsel. (App. 82-91).

After the defense presented its case, trial counsel again moved for a directed verdict. (App. 120). This time, however, the basis for Lowery’s motion was the failure to play the portion of McNeely’s recording which showed him issuing the Miranda warnings. Trial counsel claimed he did not previously object because he did not know how the video was “going to play out” and did not know what was on the video and what could or could not be played. Trial counsel maintained the DUI statute required that the issuance of Miranda warnings be recorded and such recording needs to be shown to the trier of fact. (App. 119-120).

In response, the State noted that the recording issue was addressed at bar, on the record, just shortly before. The State noted that it, along with trial counsel, redacted that video together the night before to ensure the parties complied with the trial judge’s pretrial rulings and Appellant knew the Miranda warnings were contained in the recording. The trial judge denied the motion, noting the State “substantially complied” with the requirements of the recording statute. (App. 120-121).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Decisions to admit or exclude evidence rest in the sound discretion of the trial judge and will only be reversed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 557, 564 S.E.2d 87, 93 (2002). An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law. State v. McDonald, 343 S.C. 319, 325, 540 S.E.2d 464, 467 (2000). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 176, 460 S.E.2d 368, 370 (1995). “Prejudice occurs when there is reasonable probability the wrongly admitted evidence influenced the jury's verdict.” State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 444, 710 S.E.2d 55, 58 (2011). “On appeal, the conclusion of the trial judge on issues of fact as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion.” State v. Kennedy, 333 S.C. 426, 429, 510 S.E.2d 714, 715 (1998). “[T]he appellate court does not re-evaluate the facts based upon its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial judge’s ruling is supported by any evidence.” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 652 S.E.2d 444 (2008).

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in holding that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting statements made by Lowery on the dash cam video.

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded Lowery's conviction for driving under the influence finding the trial court abused its discretion in admitting statements Lowery made on a dash camera recording and that the State failed to comply with the DUI statute regarding a second dash camera recording. For multiple reasons, the decision of the Court of Appeals was an erroneous one.

The Court of Appeals relied on the thirteen factors set forth in Williams to determine whether an interrogation was "custodial" yet, in doing so, it critically and problematically failed to address eight of the thirteen factors and failed to give the trial court's ruling its proper deference. State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E.2d 194, 199 (Ct. App. 2013).

The first factor is whether the contact with law enforcement was initiated by the police or the person interrogated, and if by the police, whether the person voluntarily agreed to interview. Id. In its analysis, the Court of Appeals stated that "the interrogation was initiated by Vallin" State v. Lowery, 436 S.C. 349, 872 S.E.2d 197 (Ct. App. 2022). The Court neglected to address the fact that Lowery voluntarily pulled in to the gas station, Officer Vallin did not conduct a traffic stop of Lowery, he merely arrived at the same gas station as Lowery. Significantly, Lowery never hesitated to speak to Officer Vallin and did not indicate that he was unwilling to talk to Vallin. This is evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The second factor under Williams is whether the express purpose of the interview was to question the person as a witness or suspect. The Court of Appeals stated "Lowery was being questioned as a suspect rather than as a witness." Lowery, 436 S.C. at 358. On the contrary,

Lowery was not being questioned as a suspect for DUI, he was being questioned in connection with a car accident. Under the Court of Appeals' analysis, anytime an accident is being investigated, Miranda warnings would be required prior to discussing an accident. This is not and should not be the case. See State v. Barksdale, 433 S.C. 324, 857 S.E.2d 557 (Ct. App. 2021)(holding that defendant was not in custody, and thus not entitled to Miranda warnings, at the time a police officer questioned him, at the scene of an automobile crashing during a routine investigation because defendant was not in handcuffs and able to move about the scene freely, as well as it occurred in a public place.); State v. Morgan, 282 S.C. 409, 319 S.E.2d 335 (1984). This is evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody. (holding Miranda warnings were not required for admissibility of statements made in response to routine investigation of traffic accident.).

The third factor under Williams is where the interview took place. Although the Court of Appeals did not address this factor in its analysis, it's important to note that the interview took place in a gas station which is a much more public place than the side of the road. The United States Supreme Court has previously held that a traffic stop, although a "seizure," was not a situation considered unduly coercive which required the issuing of Miranda warnings because it is presumptively temporary and brief compared to an interrogation in a police station which is presumptively long, and the circumstances are not such that the motorist feels he or she is completely at the mercy of the police because of the public location and presence of witnesses. Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984). A gas station parking lot is even more public than the side of the road at a traffic stop and is more temporary than the inside of an interrogation room. This is additional evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The fourth factor, whether the police informed the person he or she was under arrest or in custody, is another factor that the Court of Appeals did not address in its analysis. Not only did they not address it, but they completely ignored the statement made by Officer Vallin in the dash cam video “okay well we don’t know if we’re arresting you yet so just hang on for that okay?” (State’s Exhibit 1 at 4:29). This is evidence supporting the trial judge’s ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The fifth Williams factor is whether law enforcement officers informed the person he or she could terminate the interview and leave at any time or whether the person’s conduct indicated an awareness of such freedom. The Court of Appeals did not address this factor, but the State acknowledged Lowery was never specifically told he could leave, so this factor could support a finding of custody.

The sixth factor concerns whether there were restrictions on the individual’s freedom of movement during the interview. In the analysis of this factor, the Court of Appeals completely misstated the facts. The Court stated Lowery was “denied his request to use the telephone or the restroom.” Lowery, 436 S.C. at 358. While he was denied his request to use the telephone, after incriminating statements were already made, nowhere in State’s Exhibit 1 dash cam footage with Officer Vallin does Lowery request to use the restroom. In State’s Exhibit 2, while he is in the middle of his field sobriety tests, he does ask to use the restroom and is denied, but this is well after his incriminating statements. The custody determination is whether a person is in custody at the time of his statements, not whether he was ever in custody. In State v. Kerr, Appellant argued that his statements admitting that he had been drinking should have been suppressed because he was in custody at the time of his statements and should have been given Miranda warnings. The Court of Appeals held that a defendant was not “in custody” at the time he made the statements

to the officer because the officer was performing a routine investigation into the cause of a traffic accident when Appellant stated to the officer that he had been drinking. State v. Kerr, 330 S.C. 132, 498 S.E.2d 212 (Ct. App. 1998). Custody determination is made at the time a statement is made. Further, the Court of Appeals failed to address that Lowery was neither handcuffed nor sitting in a police car at the time of the questioning. In fact, Officer Vallin allows him to smoke a cigarette during this time. (State's Exhibit 1). This is evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The seventh factor is the length of the interrogation. The Court did not address this factor in its analysis and likely because it clearly favors the judge's ruling as the entire period of questioning by Officer Vallin lasted approximately six minutes and the first incriminating statement is made within 26 seconds. This evidence supports the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The eighth factor is the number of officers participating. The Court of Appeals embellishes its analysis of this factor and states "he was surrounded by numerous officers" yet failed to address that only one officer is asking questions and actually participating in the interview. Further, although there was testimony that there were two or three deputies around Lowery only one was close enough to him to be visible or heard in the dash cam video. "Additionally, the presence of multiple officers at the scene of an accident has not deterred our appellate courts from finding a DUI suspect was not in custody while being questioned in the presence of multiple police officers." State v. Barksdale, 433 S.C. 324, 336, 857 S.E.2d 557, 563 (Ct. App. 2021). This is evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The ninth factor is whether law enforcement dominated and controlled the course of the interrogation. The Court of Appeals did not address this factor in its analysis. A review of the beginning of State's Exhibit 1 when the relevant statements were made clearly demonstrates Officer Vallin and Lowery were having a conversation. Vallin was not peppering Lowery with questions. Some of Lowery's statements were made without being prompted by a question. This is evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

The tenth factor is whether law enforcement manifested a belief that the person was culpable and had the evidence to prove it. In its analysis of this factor, the Court of Appeals adopted trial counsel's language in stating that "Vallin admitted his interrogation was accusatory." Lowery, 436 S.C. at 358. Vallin testified "from the evidence I saw I did believe that he was involved." Id. at the Jackson v. Denno hearing prior to trial. That fact was not made known at the scene and more importantly it was not made known to Lowery until Vallin testified at the Jackson v. Denno hearing. See Barksdale 433 S.C. 324, 857 S.E.2d 557 (Ct. App. 2021). This is evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling that Lowery was not in custody.

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