STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Appeal from Greenville County

Honorable Robin B. Stilwell, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

APPELLANT,

V.

PHILLIP WAYNE LOWERY,

RESPONDENT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000806

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

Oct 18 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

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

ARGUMENT

1.

The Court of Appeals correctly held that a Miranda violation occurred, where a law enforcement officer testified unambiguously that Respondent was not free to leave, make a telephone call, or use the restroom, where the same officer engaged in questioning designed to elicit an incriminating response.

Relevant facts

In this DUI case, the state called two witnesses—both police officers— as witnesses. Because neither officer witnessed Respondent driving a vehicle, the state relied on respondent’s statement taken through custodial interrogation, without Miranda warnings to convict him.

During the Jackson v. Denno¹ hearing, David Vallin, an officer with the South Carolina Highway Patrol, conceded respondent was not free to leave the scene at the Spinx gas station in Greenville County.² App. 13, ll. 23–25. Later during cross-examination, Vallin reiterated that respondent was confined to the gas station parking lot:

Q: So - - and *your testimony earlier that he was not free to leave?*

A: *Correct.*

Q: *So, if he had taken off running, y’all would have attacked him?*

A: *We would have stopped him, yes.*

Q: Some sort of force to restrain him?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Because he was not allowed to leave?

¹ 378 U.S. 368 (1964).

² These “App.” citations are the numbers at the bottom middle of the state’s appendix.

A: Correct.

App. 17, l. 24 – 18, l. 8. (emphasis added).

Vallin's dashcam footage, which became state's exhibit 1, was played for the judge during the pre-trial hearing. Blue lights were flashing during questioning. Some of the questions Vallin asked respondent, in an accusatory manner and displaying disbelief in the answers he was receiving were:

- So, what happened?
- You don't know?
- You don't remember any darn thing?
- So, how'd you get all the way down here with your tire like that?
- How'd you get all the way down here from Piedmont Road all the way down here with your tire like that?
- So, you didn't even know your tire was like that?
- I mean that's not like its just leaking, you're tire's tore up, you're pretty much riding on the rim?
- But you didn't know that?
- How much have you had to drink tonight?
- About three or four [beers]?
- Three or five or four or five?
- Five, ok.
- How big were they?
- What do mean like "regular like" – twelve ounce?

- Were you the only one in your car?³

Petitioner characterizes this as “[b]asic of questions of Lowery in an effort to ascertain who or what caused the initial traffic accident, during which Lowery volunteered his inculpatory statements.” Brief of Petitioner at 4. Respondent respectfully disagrees with this assessment, and much more importantly, the Court of Appeals did also. State v. Lowery 436 S.C. 349, 356-57 872 S.E.2d 197, 201 (Ct.App. 2022).

Vallin never told respondent he could leave the scene or that he had a right to terminate the interrogation. App. 18, ll. 16–18. In fact, as seen, Vallin confirmed respondent was not free to leave. Vallin believed there were three or four law enforcement county deputies already on the scene at the Spinx gas station when he arrived, and their blue lights were on. App. 16, ll. 8-18. The judge interjected: “I’ll take judicial notice that there was a substantial number of law enforcement officers there and blue lights were flashing.” App. 17, ll. 18-20.

Vallin admitted that respondent asked him if you could call someone, and Vallin told respondent he could not call anyone. App. 19, ll. 2-9. Vallin believed respondent had been involved “in this collision.” App. 19, ll. 10-14. Trooper Brandon McNeely admitted respondent asked to be allowed to go to the restroom. McNeely refused to allow respondent to use the restroom, and respondent urinated on himself. App. 75, ll. 15-24. App. 80, l. 19 – 81, l. 8.

When pressed on other details, Vallin had difficulty recalling specific facts.⁴ App. 62, l. 6-22; App. 66. l. 1 – 64, l. 3. He had been a Trooper for three years and worked about one hundred and fifty DUI cases. He said respondent “smelled of alcohol,” and he appeared to be

³ State’s Exhibits 1 and 2 were on file with the Court of Appeals and they are on file with this Court for viewing.

⁴ Vallin admitted he did prepare an incident report in this case, and he did not have notes either. He also did not take any photographs. App. 65, ll. 6-12.

slurring his speech on the video. App. 63, ll. 12-16. In fact, Vallin appeared annoyed at times on the video with his inability to understand respondent.

Trooper Brandon McNeely was the state's only other witness. Like Vallin, he arrived at the gas station parking lot on January 26, 2018. App. 68, ll. 8-10. McNeely said respondent smelled of alcohol, and he demonstrated signs of impairment. App. 69, ll. 2-9. McNeely offered that on the HGN test respondent was "swaying or moving" which was a sign of impairment. App. 74, l. 8 – 77, l. 10. McNeely arrested respondent. The solicitor then noted that "[w]e didn't finish that video, but you said you Mirandized him, correct? McNeely said, "Yes, sir," and he said "Miranda" was on the video even though the judge nor the jury ever saw it. App. 78, ll. 2-6. On the dashcam on the ride to the jail, respondent repeatedly denied he was driving that evening. State's exhibit 2 which is on file with this Court.

The state admitted the dashcam video from Vallin's car as state's Exhibit 1; McNeely's footage became state's Exhibit 2. After offering the testimony of Vallin and McNeely, the state rested. App. 82, ll. 8-10.

Respondent moved for a directed verdict on the grounds that the state failed to prove the *corpus delicti* in the case. He argued that neither trooper witnessed respondent driving the red SUV, that there was no testimony regarding scrape marks or the temperature of the car. There was no proof respondent had been driving. App. 86, l. 4 – 88, l. 20.

The assistant solicitor opined in response, that respondent's statement from the dashcam videos was "excellent evidence and certainly enough for a jury question as to whether or not he was driving." He said respondent told the Trooper that he left Wild Country, and "I pulled in here to change my tire. I turned in here to get something to eat. If I hit anybody. I'm sorry. I

guess I screwed up. I can't lie. Then at one point he says, I was the only person in the car.” App. 88, l. 23 – 89, l. 20.

All of this was upon questioning without or before any Miranda warnings, and before respondent was arrested as respondent challenged pre-trial. The trial judge denied respondent's motion for a directed verdict. App. 90, l. 16 – 91, l. 11.

Respondent testified in his defense. He admitted drinking that night but denied driving. He said his friend, Kim Pryor was driving. App. 96, l. 13 – 97, l. 13.

Kim Pryor acknowledged that respondent drank a lot that night but she was driving and not respondent. Kim did not drink, and she recalled that respondent's daughter called him and said she had a flat tire and was “at the Spinx station on Piedmont Highway.” Kim then drove respondent to the Spinx station and left him at his daughter's car in the Spinx parking lot. Kim did not see respondent's daughter, and “[w]hen I pulled out of the Spinx station, Wayne [Respondent] was standing on the passenger side door of his daughter's car. She wasn't there.” App. 106, l. 5 – 111, l. 13.

The defense then rested, and argued that neither the Miranda warnings nor the full “sobriety tests” were on the videotape in violation of the statute. App. 119, l. 22 – 120, l. 21. The judge ruled the state had “substantially complied with the requirements under the law.”⁵ App. 120, l. 22 – 121, l. 3.

In his closing argument, defense counsel Gravlee argued that the state had failed to prove that respondent was driving the car that night. The state's evidence was only two Troopers and

⁵ As argued infra in issue two, this was the first opportunity for respondent to make a proper motion for relief since the solicitor also apparently expected that law enforcement would produce a video of respondent being given Miranda warnings and the full sobriety tests which would be shown to the jury during the state's case-in-chief. The failure of the state to do so was unexpected to the trial judge, the defense, and the solicitor.

neither could testify respondent was driving the car, or even that the car was warm to indicate it had recently been driven. Respondent, counsel reminded the jury, had been drinking that night and he said a “lot of things.” App. 130, l. 19 – 131, l. 15.

Respondent was found guilty as indicted. App. 147, ll. 1–8. Judge Stilwell sentenced him to two years’ incarceration, and imposed a fine of \$2,100. App. 153, ll. 6–10.

At the Court of Appeals, respondent raised the two issues presently before this Court. As to the first issue, the Miranda violation, the state took the position that this was a routine traffic stop that did not require such warnings. State’s Brief at 9. The state relied on Berkemer v. McCarty, 468 U.S. 420 (1984) for the notion that traffic stops are not unduly coercive. Alternatively, the state sought to rely on the public safety exception. State’s brief at 12. This exception was not argued by the solicitor at trial.

The Court of Appeals opinion reversed on both issues. As to the statement and the failure to give Miranda warnings, the Court held Respondent’s situation “was more than a routine traffic stop.” 436 S.C. 349, 356, 872 S.E.2d 197, 201. The Court determined Vallin’s questioning was interrogational. Id. at 357, 872 S.E.2d at 201. Further, the Court held respondent was in custody. Id.

As to the second issue, compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 56-5-2953, the Court held the recording utilized by the state at trial “did not comply with the statute.” Id. at 361, 872 S.E.2d at 203. The video admitted into evidence, viewed by the jury, and reviewed by the Court of Appeals did not contain all of the sobriety tests and the issuance of Miranda warnings. Because this Court modified the remedy for a violation under this section in the weeks leading up to the oral argument in respondent’s case, the Court of Appeals held the remedy for the failure to meet the statutory requirements was no longer dismissal, but suppression of the defendant’s statement.

Petitioner's statements at his new trial were also suppressed given the opinion of the Court of Appeals on issue one since they were involuntarily given. See State v. Taylor, 426 S.C. 28, 870 S.E.2d 168 (2022).

Discussion

As seen, upon Trooper Vallin's accusatory questioning, respondent admitted that he drank five beers, and that no one else was in the car with him. Thus, Vallin had respondent stumble in admitting he had to be the driver, and that he legally should not have been driving.

In Jackson v. Denno 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court indicated "that a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession." "In order to introduce into evidence a confession arising from custodial interrogation, the State must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966)." State v. Moses, 390 S.C. 502, 512, 702 S.E.2d 395, 400 (Ct. App. 2010).

The state may not use statements stemming from custodial interrogations of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege of self-incrimination. Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966). Custodial interrogation entails questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way. Id. Interrogation can be either express questioning or its functional equivalent and includes words or actions on the part of police (other than those normally attendant to arrest and custody) the police should know are reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response. State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996), aff'd as modified, 333 S.C. 426, 510 S.E.2d 714 (1998).

Whether a suspect was in “custody is determined by an objective analysis of ‘whether a reasonable man in the suspect's position would have understood himself to be in custody.’ ”

State v. Ledford, 351 S.C. 83, 88, 567 S.E.2d 904, 907 (Ct. App. 2002). “To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” State v. Evans, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582 S.E.2d 407, 410 (2003). A person is “in custody” when a person's freedom has been restricted. State v. Caulder, 287 S.C. 507, 515, 339 S.E.2d 876, 881 (Ct.App.1986).

Miranda warnings are not required if the defendant is not in custody or significantly deprived of his freedom. State v. Neely, 271 S.C. 33, 40, 244 S.E.2d 522, 526 (1978). To determine whether a suspect was in custody for the purposes of Miranda, the Supreme Court has asked whether there is a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest. Maryland v. Shatzer, 559 U.S. 98, 112 (2010).

The Supreme Court described the purposes of the Miranda safeguards: “to ensure that the police do not coerce or trick captive suspects into confessing, to relieve the ‘inherently compelling pressures’ generated by the custodial setting itself, ‘which work to undermine the individual’s will to resist, and as much as possible to free courts from the task of scrutinizing individual cases to try to determine, after the fact, whether particular confessions were voluntary.” Berkemer v. McCarty 468 U.S. 420, 434 (1984). The Court chose not to distinguish between felonies and misdemeanors, instead reiterating that “a person subjected to custodial interrogation is entitled to the benefit of the procedural safeguards enunciated in Miranda, regardless of the nature or severity of the offense of which he is suspected or for which he was arrested.” Id.

“If a motorist who has been detained pursuant to a traffic stop thereafter is subjected to treatment that renders him ‘in custody’ for practical purposes, he will be entitled to the full panoply of protections prescribed in Miranda.” Berkemer, 468 U.S. at 440 (quoting Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495 (1977)).

The purpose of Miranda warnings is to apprise a defendant of the constitutional privilege not to incriminate oneself while in the custody of law enforcement. State v. Evans, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582 S.E.2d 407, 409 (2003). “A statement obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect was advised of and voluntarily waived his rights.” State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 379, 652 S.E.2d 444, 449 (Ct. App. 2007). “Miranda warnings are required for official interrogations only when a suspect ‘has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.’ ” State v. Kennedy, 325 S.C. 295, 303, 479 S.E.2d 838, 842 (Ct. App. 1996) (quoting Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444).

Respondent’s freedom of action was curtailed to a “degree associated with formal arrest.” California v. Beheler, 463 U.S. 1121 (1983). Even if a motorist who has been detained pursuant to a traffic stop is thereafter subjected to treatment that renders him “in custody” for practical purposes, he will be entitled to the full panoply of protections prescribed by Miranda. Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492, 495 (1977).

“Whether a suspect is in custody is determined by an examination of the totality of the circumstances, such as the location, purpose, and length of interrogation, and whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 301, 688 S.E.2d 838, 841. “The custodial determination is an objective analysis based on whether a reasonable person

would have concluded that he was in police custody.” Evans, 354 S.C. at 583, 582 S.E.2d at 410.

In State v. Medley, 417 S.C. 18, 22, 787 S.E.2d 847, 849 (Ct. App. 2016), police officers witnessed Medley run a stop sign and speed away from a checkpoint while driving a motorcycle. The police chased Medley. Id. Medley drove to his parents’ house, where an officer “apprehended him and ‘put him on the ground.’ ” Id. The officer then asked Medley two incriminating questions: whether he had a license and how much he had been drinking. Id. After Medley responded with incriminating answers, the officers arrested him and read him his Miranda rights.

The Court of Appeals held Medley was in custody. He was restrained and therefore deprived of his freedom of action. Id. at 26, 787 S.E.2d at 851. The officer also asked incriminating questions:

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